IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LLOYD DUEST,

Appellant,

vs.

Case Number SC07-162

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.____/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT BROWARD COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Fla. Bar. No. 0899641 Law Office of Todd G. Scher, P.L. 5600 Collins Avenue, #15-B Miami Beach, FL 33140 (305) 861-9252

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

"PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Duest appeals the circuit court's denial of relief on his Rule 3.851 motion following a limited evidentiary hearing.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence of death at issue.

Mr. Duest was originally tried, convicted, and sentenced to death in 1983. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions and death sentence. *Duest v. State*, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985).

Subsequently, Mr. Duest sought postconviction relief in a Rule 3.850 motion. After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied relief, and this Court affirmed. *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Duest thereafter sought federal habeas corpus relief. After the federal district court denied relief, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals granted Mr. Duest a resentencing but affirmed the denial of relief as to the claims relating to the guilt phase of his capital trial. *Duest v. Singletary*, 967 F. 2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992). Subsequently, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari on petition by the State of Florida and remanded the case back to the Eleventh Circuit for further consideration of the harmless error standard it had employed in granting Mr. Duest sentencing relief. *Singletary v. Duest*, 507 U.S. 1048 (1993). On remand, the Eleventh Circuit re-affirmed its earlier grant of relief as to the sentencing issues. *Duest v. Singletary*, 997 F. 2d 1336 (11th Cir. 1993).

Mr. Duest's re-sentencing proceeding thereafter took place in the circuit court, which, after considering the jury's recommended death sentence by a vote of 10-2, imposed the death penalty on Mr. Duest. This Court affirmed. Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 2003). In his direct appeal, Mr. Duest raised the following issues: (1) Mr. Duest was deprived of his rights to due process under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments because either the State failed to disclose evidence which was material and exculpatory in nature and/or presented misleading evidence; (2) Mr. Duest was deprived of his rights to due process under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments when the circuit court ruled that the State had no obligation to disclose the out-of-state criminal records of state witnesses until Mr. Duest presented evidence that a certain witness had committed some criminal offense; (3) Mr. Duest was denied his right to present a defense and to confront witnesses against him when the circuit court precluded presentation of evidence regarding the facts of the case or impeachment of identifying witnesses; (4) the trial court impermissibly prohibited Mr. Duest from introducing relevant mitigating evidence and refused to instruct the jury that residual doubt constituted a mitigating circumstance; (5) the trial court erroneously refused to instruct the jury on the statutory mitigating circumstances and erroneously instructed the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance; (6) the court erroneously precluded the defense mental health expert from testifying to her

findings that mitigating circumstances were present; (7) the trial court erred in permitting the State to elicit from the defense mental health expert Mr. Duest's entire criminal history; (8) the court failed to conduct an independent weighing of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances; (9) proportionality; and (11) Florida law deprived Mr. Duest of his Sixth Amendment right to have all elements of his crime submitted to a full and fair jury trial.

The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on April 19, 2004. *Duest v. Florida*, 541 U.S. 993 (2004).

On or about April 14, 2005, Mr. Duest, through registry-appointed counsel, filed a motion for postconviction relief, with attachments, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 (PCR1-70). In his motion, Mr. Duest raised the following claims for relief: (1) Mr. Duest should be permitted to amend his motion following an in camera inspection by the circuit court of public records exempted from disclosure by the State Attorney's Office; (2) the State has failed to comply with ongoing obligation to disclose information pursuant to *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and the State should be ordered to disclose to Mr. Duest any and all information in its possession with respect to witness polygraphs; (3) Mr. Duest was deprived of his right to a reliable adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his capital trial, his right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment, as well as his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Amendments, because the State failed to

disclose material exculpatory evidence and/or presented misleading evidence, and newly discovered evidence entitled him to a new guilt phase; (4) Mr. Duest was denied a reliable adversarial testing at his capital resentencing proceeding, in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution; (5) *Ring v. Arizona* established that the State was precluded from using Mr. Duest's 1987 prior conviction as an aggravating circumstance, as the conviction did not exist at the time of the offense.

On May 6, 2005, the circuit court ordered the State to file its response (PCR71), which it did file on or about June 14, 2005 (PCR73-280). A case management conference was conducted on September 9, 2005 (PCR-T32-66). On September 13, 2005, the lower court issued an order to the parties requesting the parties to file a memorandum "outlining their respective claims and responses." The parties thereafter filed their respective memoranda (PCR301-310) (State's Memorandum); (PCR311-318) (Defendant's Memorandum).

On November 30, 2005, the lower court entered its order following the case management conference (PCR398-406). The court summarily denied all of Mr. Duest's claims with the exception of a portion of Claim 3 ("For further clarification, the evidentiary hearing as granted, is on the sole issue of counsel's alleged ineffective assistance of counsel as it related to Dr. Wright's change in testimony") (PCR406). The limited evidentiary hearing took place on June 9, 2006

(PCR-T84-128).

On June 13, 2006, Mr. Duest filed a supplement to his Rule 3.851 motion, raising one supplemental claim for relief: (1) Due Process was violated under *Bradshaw v. Stumpf*, 125 S.Ct. 2398 (2005), by the State's use of inconsistent theories as to the victim's manner of death at both the original guilt phase proceedings and at the resentencing proceeding (PCR334-339). By order of court, the parties filed their post-evidentiary hearing memoranda on October 26, 2006 (PCR344-358) (Defendant's Memorandum); (PCR359-387) (State's Memorandum).

On December 21, 2006, the lower court entered its order denying Mr. Duest's Rule 3.851 motion and the supplemental claim thereto (PCR388-397). A timely notice of appeal was filed (PCR437-38), and this Initial Brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. Mr. Duest was denied a reliable adversarial testing at the guilt and resentencing phases of his capital trial due to the combined effects of various constitutional violations including the "changed" testimony of medical examiner Dr. Wright, which constituted a *Brady* violation, new violations of *Brady* which surfaced during the instant collateral proceedings and which also affect the reliability of the guilt verdict, and ineffective assistance of resentencing counsel. The lower court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on these claims (save one sub-claim on which a hearing was granted), in its rulings, both procedural and substantive, and in refusing to conduct a cumulative analysis of the *Brady* information that the guilt phase jury did not know about because it was improperly withheld by the State. As a result of the combined effect of the various constitutional violations alleged, Mr. Duest is entitled to a new guilt phase, a new sentencing proceeding, or, at a minimum, an evidentiary hearing as mandated by the new Rule 3.851.

2. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Duest's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel at his capital resentencing phase. Mr. Duest identified this claim as one requiring factual development, and the lower court was without authority to deny a hearing in the face of the mandatory evidentiary

hearing provided for in the new Rule 3.851. Because the two issues raised both required factual development, and were not procedurally barred, the lower court erred in denying these issues, and reversal for an evidentiary hearing is warranted.

ARGUMENT I

MR. DUEST WAS DENIED A RELIABLE ADVERSARIAL TESTING AT THE GUILT PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL AND THE RESENTENCING PHASE, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING VARIOUS ISSUES ATTENDANT TO THIS CLAIM.

A. Introduction.

In his Rule 3.851 motion, Mr. Duest alleged that he was deprived of his right to a reliable adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his capital trial, his right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment, as well as his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Amendments because the State failed to disclose material exculpatory evidence and/or presented misleading evidence pursuant to *Brady v*. *Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and its progeny (PCR10 *et. seq.*). Moreover, a newly-discovered evidence component was alleged, as well as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the resentencing phase pursuant to *Strickland v*. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) (Id.).¹

During his first Rule 3.850 proceedings, Mr. Duest had alleged that he had been denied an adequate adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his capital trial in that the State, in violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), failed to disclose a bus ticket that was seized from Mr. Duest which reflected travel from Boston to Miami in early April, 1982. In addressing this claim, this Court concluded that Mr. Duest had established that the State failed to disclose this information to defense counsel at the time of trial. *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849, 850 (Fla. 1990).² This Court, as well as the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, concluded, however, that confidence was not undermined by the State's failure to disclose the exculpatory information. *Id.* at 850-51; *Duest v. Singletary*, 967 F. 2d 472, 478-79 (11th Cir. 1992). It is thus in the context of the previous conclusions by the courts that Mr. Duest's current claims must be assessed.

B. Brady Violations.

1. Dr. Wright's Changed Testimony.

Dr. Ronald Wright, the medical examiner who was involved in conducting

¹The *Strickland* component, which related to Mr. Duest's resentencing proceeding, was the only aspect of Mr. Duest's Rule 3.851 motion upon which an evidentiary hearing was granted.

the autopsy of Mr. Pope, the victim in the instant case, testified at both Mr. Duest's original trial in 1983 and at the resentencing proceeding in 1998. However, Dr. Wright's testimony at the 1998 resentencing proceeding constituted a complete about-face on numerous issues relating to the death of Mr. Pope. Indeed, at the 1998 resentencing, Dr. Wright admitted that his testimony at Mr. Duest's capital guilt phase in 1983 was "incorrect" (T2. 399-400).

As noted by this Court in its direct appeal decision arising from Mr. Duest's resentencing, Dr. Wright's testimony at the 1983 was materially different from his testimony at the 1998 resentencing proceeding:

In his 1983 testimony at deposition and trial in this case, Dr. Wright testified that the victim was initially attacked both on his bed and in the bathroom, and died soon after a final blow in the bathroom, and that death would have occurred from ten to fifteen seconds to no more than five minutes after the stab wound to the right side of the heart. After reviewing the evidence, including crime-scene photographs, Dr. Wright testified at the 1998 penalty phase that the evidence showed that the stab wounds were inflicted only in the bedroom and that the victim then made his way to the bathroom, where he collapsed and died. Dr. Wright also testified in the new penalty phase that the victim was alive and conscious for fifteen minutes or longer after the attack and might not have died from his injuries had he promptly

²The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals also addressed the *Brady* claim, but, presuming that the State had failed to disclose the information, addressed only the materiality prong. *Duest v. Singletary*, 967 F. 2d 472, 478-79 (11th Cir. 1992).

telephoned for emergency medical help. Duest claims that this change in testimony shows that the assailant left the victim alive and therefore calls into question the intent to kill, requiring a new trial on his guilt of first-degree murder.

Duest, 855 So. 2d at 39.

Review of Dr. Wright's 1983 testimony indeed bears out this Court's findings above. In 1983, Dr. Wright testified that he conducted an autopsy on Mr. Pope at about 9:30 PM on February 15, 1982 (R1-913). He determined that Mr. Pope had been dead for at least four hours, and concluded that he "died of multiple stab wounds" (R1-905, 913). He also testified (erroneously) that Mr. Pope died somewhere between fifteen seconds and five minutes after being stabbed (T2. 404-06). Dr. Wright further indicated in 1983 that Mr. Pope's body was found in the bathroom and that the laceration on the back of his head was "consistent with the individual having fallen after being stabbed to death" (R1-910). In 1983, the sentencing judge relied on Dr. Wright's testimony to find that Mr. Pope was stabbed in the bedroom and in the bathroom (R1-1834). On direct appeal, this Court rejected Mr. Duest's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support premeditation, concluding that "there was sufficient circumstantial evidence to sustain defendant's conviction of premeditated murder." Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985).³

In his Rule 3.851 motion, Mr. Duest alleged that Dr. Wright's new testimony established that a *Brady* violation occurred at the original guilt phase of his capital trial, as well as at the resentencing. Insofar as the discovery by the State of Dr. Wright's "changed" testimony, the chronology of events, buttressed by documents disclosed by the State pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P.3.852 during the instant postconviction proceedings, is necessary for a complete understanding of this issue.

Dr. Wright was the first witness to testify at the resentencing; his direct examination took place on Wednesday, October 7, 1998 (T2-334). After the conclusion of his direct examination, a recess was taken until the following Monday, October 12, 1998 (T2-373). At no time prior to Dr. Wright's testimony, either on direct or cross examination, did the prosecutor inform defense counsel of Dr. Wright's "changed" testimony. Nor can the State claim that it was unaware of Dr. Wright's changed testimony; notes discovered in the documents provided by the State Attorney's Office pursuant to Rule 3.852 revealed that there were clearly

³Unbeknownst to either Mr. Duest or this Court, the State had in its possession a 1982 memorandum from Assistant State Attorney Richard Garfield, who prosecuted Mr. Duest's original trial and sentencing, which states that "[t]he case is borderline on sufficiency of evidence, which is totally circumstantial" (PCR13).

discussions between the prosecutor and Dr. Wright about his "new" testimony and, in fact, Dr. Wright provided a handwritten "script" to the prosecutor containing questions he should ask, even going to far as to note that some of the question "could get you a mistrial" (PCR-63).⁴ Indeed, Dr. Wright's script offered to the prosecutor various versions of what the "last question" should be in descending order of the level of objectionable nature of the question; the "least objectionable" question in Dr. Wright's script reads as follows: "Dr. Based upon your examination of the scene + body do you have an opinion based on reasonable medical certainty whether any of the wounds caused him to stay bleeding in the bed?" (PCR-64). Dr. Wright then wrote "Opinion is No nothing" (Id.). When one compares the prosecutor's last question he posed to Dr. Wright, see T2-370 ("Doctor, based upon your examination at the scene and of the body, do you have an opinion based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty whether any of the wounds caused him to stay bleeding in the bed"), it could not be clearer that the prosecutor knew in advance what Dr. Wright's "new" testimony was going to be

The State's failure to disclose this memorandum was raised below in Mr. Duest's Rule 3.851 motion, and this argument will be addressed *infra*.

⁴The prosecutor clearly knew something was going on regarding Dr. Wright's testimony. On October 6, 1998, the day prior to Dr. Wright's testimony, the prosecutor requested that his investigator pick up Dr. Wright's file (PCR-66). The file was picked up by the investigator and given to the prosecutor on October 7, the very day that Dr. Wright testified (PCR-68).

because he was in fact reading from the script provided to him by Dr. Wright.⁵

a. The Evidentiary Hearing.

The lower court granted a limited evidentiary hearing on whether counsel at Mr. Duest's resentencing, Carlos Llorente, rendered ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to adequately object and request a *Richardson*⁶ hearing with regard to Dr. Ronald Wright's change in testimony at Mr. Duest's resentencing proceeding . The court also noted that, insofar as Mr. Duest's Rule 3.851 motion alleged Dr. Wright's testimony as newly discovered evidence, that claim was "subsumed by the necessity of evidentiary development."

Mr. Duest's resentencing counsel, Carlos Llorente, was the only witness to testify at the evidentiary hearing. After explaining his legal experience (PCR-T. 92), Mr. Llorente testified that he had been appointed to represent Mr. Duest at his resentencing proceeding in approximately 1994, and the resentencing took place four (4) years later in 1998 (*Id.* at 93). Mr. Duest's case was the first and only case he had worked on where he had been appointed solely for the purpose of conducting a capital resentencing (*Id.* at 93-94). Shortly after Mr. Duest was

⁵Dr. Wright's "explanation" to the jury that the reason for his "new" version was attributable to the fact that he did not have the crime scene photographs when he was originally deposed in 1983 (T2-400). Of course, Dr. Wright was personally at the crime scene and made his own observations of the scene.

⁶See Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

resentenced to death, Mr. Llorente ceased his work in criminal defense work (*Id.* at 94).

Mr. Llorente recalled that Dr. Wright was the medical examiner at the time of the alleged offense, and, during the course of the State's case at Mr. Duest's resentencing, he became aware that Dr. Wright's testimony differed from his testimony at Mr. Duest's original guilt phase in 1983 (Id. at 94). While he had no independent recollection of having reviewed Dr. Wright's original deposition taken before the guilt phase proceeding, he was "sure" he reviewed it because he reviewed all of the documents pertaining to Mr. Duest's case, including those pertaining to the original guilt phase (Id. at 96-97). Mr. Llorente could not pinpoint the exact time when he was aware that Dr. Wright had changed his testimony, for example, whether he knew Dr. Wright was going to be changing his testimony before the resentencing itself, or whether it was during the actual direct examination itself (Id. at 97). It was "obvious," however, that Dr. Wright had changed his testimony between the time of the original guilt phase and the time of Mr. Duest's resentencing (Id. at 98). He had no recollection of seeking to or actually deposing Dr. Wright prior to the resentencing (*Id.*).⁷

⁷The court file does not contain any notice of deposition, nor has the State ever contended that Dr. Wright was re-deposed prior to Mr. Duest's resentencing proceeding.

Mr. Llorente was aware of what a Richardson violation was:

[i]f you feel that evidence has been withheld, or there's a *Brady* violation, you would ask for a *Richardson* inquiry. The Court would then decide whether or not it rises to the level of an evidentiary hearing, and may hold an evidentiary hearing on the issue.

(*Id.* at 98-99). There were various sanctions available if the court were to find a *Richardson* violation, including a mistrial and the striking of the witness from the party committing the *Richardson* violation (*Id.* at 99). In Mr. Llorente's experience, he had never seen a case being dismissed or a witness struck because of a *Richardson* violation (*Id.*).

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