IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-162

LOYD DUEST

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CAPITAL APPEALS DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Celia Terenzio Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

Second, this Court has rejected the identical claim, noting, the results would not have been admissible at trial without the consent of both parties. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 883 So. 2d 766, 787 (Fla. 2004), citing <u>Walsh v. State</u>, 418 So. 2d 1000, 1002 (Fla. 1982). Third, Appellant's claim that the state has and continues to withhold evidence of other polygraph examinations was insufficiently pled and did not warrant an evidentiary hearing. <u>Wright v. State</u>, 857 So.2d 861, 869-870 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting as speculative a <u>Brady</u> allegation that the possibility that undisclosed information may be helpful warrants an evidentiary hearing); <u>Gore v. State</u>, 846 So. 2d 461, 466 (Fla. 2003) (same).

In so far as Appellant relies on <u>Jacobs v. Singletary</u>, 952 F. 2d 1282 (11th Cir. 1992) for support, such reliance is misplaced. First, there is absolutely no finding by the Eleventh Circuit that the State Attorney's Office has a history of violating Brady by not providing polygraph examinations to

defendants. Second, the facts and holding of <u>Jacobs</u> are distinguishable from the case at bar. While in <u>Jacobs</u> the State conceded that it failed to provide a copy of the examiner's report to the defense, the polygraph submitted in <u>Jacobs</u> and it's results were vastly different than the submission and results in this case.

In <u>Jacobs</u>, the polygraphed witness was the only eyewitness to testify that the defendant had fired the first shot resulting in the death of a police officer. The Eleventh Circuit found that the polygraph testimony differed significantly in several areas with that of the witnesses' trial testimony, particularly whether Jacobs had fired at the officer. Furthermore, in concluding Jacobs was entitled to a new trial, the court held:

> find that Rhodes' polygraph testimony We significantly clashes with his statements at and was more damning than other trial. equivocal statements made by Rhodes and available to the defense. Under Florida rules of evidence, the defense could have entered this report both to impeach the witness and to establish the truth of the matter asserted. Fla. Stat. See Ann. §90.801(2) (West 1979). The examiner's report, if accepted as the truth, impeaches Rhodes' inculpatory trial testimony on which several issues centrally concern Jacob's guilt or innocence.

Id. at 1289.

In the instant case, a polygraph administered to David Shifflett, the roommate of the victim who was not an eyewitness

to the crime. His only relevant testimony was that he arrived at the scene and notified the police something was amiss at the victim's house. Thereafter, the body was discovered by the police. (ROA 482-517). Shifflett's materiality as a witness is virtually insignificant compared to the witness in <u>Jacobs</u>. Even if Appellant wanted the jury to consider Shifflet a suspect, the fact is, he passed the examination, and there is no evidence linking him to the crime whatsoever.¹⁴

Appellant's unsubstantiated claim that the State is "hiding something" of a relevant and exculpatory nature and therefore an evidentiary hearing was warranted, was properly denied. <u>Sochor</u> this particular claim. This court must affirm. <u>Wright</u>, <u>supra</u> Gore supra.

ISSUE II

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE RECEIVED INEFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE DUE TO THE PRESENTATION OF A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT AT SENTENCING AND COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO PRESENT

¹⁴ further Duest argues that defense counsel was affirmatively misled by Detective Lauria while being deposed. He claims he discussed his contact with David Shifflett but never mentioned he had a polygraph administered. Appellant was unable to show, nor has he shown here, how this claim prejudiced penalty phase proceeding and therefore, lacks merit. his Moreover, the claim is refuted from the record and meritless. During his entire deposition, Lauria was never asked about polygraph examinations of anyone under investigation, including Lauria did not hide the fact he had contact David Shifflett with Shifflett and when asked is there anything further that you did on this case, he responded "Not that I can think of." Defense counsel never followed up with any further inquiry.

ADDIITONAL FAMILY MEMEBERS AT SENTENING WAS PROPERLY DENIED WITHOUT A HEARING.

Here, Appellant raises two specific claims alleging that resentencing counsel Carlos Llorente, was ineffective in two respects. First, counsel failed to present all of his witnesses at the penalty phase. Counsel presented eleven witnesses at the penalty phase and an additional seven witnesses at the Spencer Duest argues that all eighteen should have been hearing. presented at resentencing and his failure to do so was deficient performance under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). Second, counsel should not have presented Dr. Patricia Fleming as a mental health expert witness at resentencing. Duest contends that "given the lack of significant testimony" presented by Dr. Patricia Fleming as an expert witness for Duest, counsel's decision to call her as a witness was "patently unreasonable" in that her testimony opened the door to some of Duest's prior criminal history. The court summarily denied the Spencer issue agreeing with the state that the Spencer hearing evidence was cumulative to the evidence presented at resentencing, consequently, appellant had not established prejudice. (PCR 326-327). The trial court found the allegation involving Dr. Fleming procedurally barred as the substance of it was raised and rejected on direct appeal. (PCR 327). The trial court's rulings were correct.

For a defendant to prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, he must establish (1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, <u>and</u> (2) but for the deficiency in representation, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>, <u>supra</u>. In assessing an ineffectiveness claim, the Court must start from a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

At all times, the petitioner bears the burden of proving not only that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, but also that he suffered actual and substantial prejudice as a result of the deficient performance. In order to demonstrate prejudice, the petitioner must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different" <u>Id</u>. at 694. Thus, the petitioner must show not only that his counsel's performance was below constitutional standards, but also that he suffered prejudice as a result of this deficient performance. The burden of proof for showing ineffective assistance is, and remains, on the defendant. <u>Roberts v. Wainwright</u>, 666 F.2d 517, 519 n.3 (11th Cir. 1982). <u>See also Johnston v. Singletary</u>, 162 F.3d 630, 635 (11th Cir. 1998).

Spencer Hearing Witnesses

Duest maintains he was prejudiced by counsel's omission to present the subsequent <u>Spencer</u> hearing witnesses in that the jury was deprived of significant mitigating evidence. Appellant speculates that due to counsel's failure to prepare, these witnesses were not presented at resentencing. The record completely rebuts Appellant's allegations.

As noted above, the trial court found that appellant could not establish prejudice as the evidence presented at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing was merely cumulative as to what was presented at resentencing. The record supports that assessment. The witnesses who testified on behalf of Duest at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing added nothing further to mitigation would have had any impact on the jury's recommendation.

The gist of testimony of family and friends before the jury at resentencing was follows:

Maria Craig testified that Duest was "there to talk [to her] about family troubles" and if she did something bad "[he] would get on her like a father would" (RROA. 787); Joseph Deavea testified he knew Duest had problems with drugs and knew of the abuse he had grown up with (RROA 776-781); Nancy Kerrigan testified as to Duest's abuse at the hands of their father, Duest's drug abuse and the fact that he was a good uncle to her children (RROA 750-775); Nancy Duest testified to Duest's

abusive upbringing, and Clare Guzzetti testified to Duest's abusive upbringing and that Duest kept in contact with her through his writings. Finally, Richard Duest testified and acknowledged he had been abusive to his son (RROA 734).

At the Spencer hearing, Duest's counsel presented the videotaped depositions of seven witnesses. He had traveled to Boston for prepare their depositions. The record supports the finding that the evidence was cumulative at best Deborah Levanche, Duest's younger sister, testified that Duest had suffered abuse growing up, had been in prison, abused heroin, was an artist and a "beautiful person". (RROA 941-49) Paul Duest, Jr., Duest's brother, testified that his family loves Duest, that Duest is good to his children, and Duest is a fantastic artist. (RROA 957-58, 959) Edward Lavanche, friend of Duest, testified Duest was a good worker and a talented artist Lillian Duest, sister-in-law to Duest, testified that Duest communicates with her family in a "positive way" and that he did "beautiful" paintings. Jennifer Duest, Duest's niece, testified that Duest gives her good advice about school. Another niece, Darlene Duest, testified that the last time she had seen Duest was ten years prior to 1998 but that he has communicated with her since and given her advice. Leighanne Duest, Duest's fourteen-year old nieces, testified that she had met Duest nine years prior to her testimony and that they would correspond back

and forth and talk on the phone every once in awhile. (RROA 982-84)

If one were to amalgamate this <u>Spencer</u> hearing mitigation testimony, the essence of it would be: Duest was abused as a child; had an ongoing substance abuse problem; is a gifted artist; and, keeps in contact with family members, offering advice from time to time. Accordingly, from the foregoing, even if this court were to find counsel's performance deficient in not presenting these witnesses to the jury, there is absolutely no prejudice inuring to Duest Their testimony is cumulative to the testimony presented by family members and **expert witnesses** at the penalty phase.¹⁵ <u>Marquard v. State</u>, 850 So. 2d 417, 429-430 (Fla. 2002)(explaining, "[a]lthough other witnesses could have provided more details relative to Marquard's early life, counsel is not required to present cumulative evidence."); <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S190 (Fla. March 13, 2008)(same).

With regards to Appellant's baseless assertion that counsel's lack of preparation was responsible for the failure to

¹⁵ Furthermore, all of these witnesses indicated to the court that they desired the court to spare his life, testimony which would not have been permitted before the jury. See <u>Card v.</u> <u>State</u>, 803 So.2d 613 (Fla. 2001) (victim's granddaughter improperly gave opinion as to appropriate punishment for defendant at <u>Spencer</u> hearing; <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1990) (victim's daughter precluded from giving opinion defendant should not be given death penalty).

present all the witnesses at resentencing, the record completely refutes that allegation. As early as September 15, 1997, counsel was prepared to present eighteen witnesses for the resentencing hearing. (RROA 60). Counsel advised this court of his intention to present these witnesses throughout preparation for the hearing. (RROA 67, 134, 136). In June of 1998, the trial court set the resentencing trial date for September 28, 1998. Due to a hurricane and the illness of the (RROA 134). prosecutor, the hearing did not proceed as scheduled. (RROA 206-207). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Lorente, filed a motion for an emergency continuance based on several reasons.¹⁶ Due to the postponement of the hearing, many of appellant's family members refused to alter their schedules to come and testify. (RROA 208-210) 213-214). Based on the trail court's extensive inquiry, Appellant detailed for the court the identity of witnesses who were willing to come and what their testimony would be in comparison to those who would not come. (Id.). The court noted that it had authorized \$18,000.00 in travel expenses for these individuals. (RROA 208). She then instructed Appellant as follows:

¹⁶ One of the reasons was based on counsel's desire to further explore mitigation evidence related to Duest's long time incarceration. (RROA 252, 165, 172). Although the continuance was denied, Dues did in fact present expert testimony on that area of mitigation through John Boone. (RROA 591-605).

COURT: Let me just tell you this. You're coming back here this afternoon at 3:00. You will have contacted all of these folks and tell them that at this point it looks like they're going to need their reservations. You're the one buying the ticket. The county is buying the ticket. That's not an expense to them. If they're that close to this man, I'm sure they'll make help a natural arrangements. Ι can't They probably knew that. disaster. They have televisions. They knew we were under the hurricane situation. I'll see you back at 3:00.

(RROA 215). Following the recess, the court inquired further, seeking more details regarding the identity of the witnesses and nature of the testimony to be presented. (RROA 151-156). It is clear from the record that the witnesses were all family and friends and they would all testify about the appellant's background. (Id.) The court denied the motion for continuance and ruled as follows:

> COURT: Motion for continuance is denied. Any defense witnesses who are unable to make their arrangements to be here to testify, certainly, if there is a death recommendation there will be a Spencer hearing and they'll have an opportunity to appear at that time and give their full testimony to this Court.

(RROA 176). The resentencing commenced three days later.

This record demonstrates that Mr. Llorente was prepared to present eighteen witnesses at resentencing and had secured the necessary funds for that purpose; several of those witnesses,

refused to change their plans following the week postponement; the trial court denied counsel's request for a continuance; the hearing commenced three days later. Failure to present these witnesses was not the result of deficient performance from Mr. Llorente. <u>Cf. Bush v. Wainwright</u>, 505 So. 2d 409, 411 (Fla. 1987 (explaining simply because a strategy is unsuccessful, does not support a finding that counsel was deficient).

In any event, he trial court properly determined the record refutes this claim in its entirety as the <u>Spencer</u> hearing witnesses only offered were cumulative evidence.

Dr. Patricia Fleming's Testimony

Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for presenting Dr. Patricia Fleming as an expert at resentencing. Specifically he alleges that that her direct testimony opened the door to some of Duest's prior criminal history, and because her testimony was "insignificant" counsel should have never allowed her to testify. The trial court correctly found this claim to be procedurally barred.

The State contends that this claim is procedurally barred as it has been fully and finally litigated on appeal. Duest may not recast an appellate issue as one of ineffective assistance and obtain a second review. Although an ineffectiveness claim is cognizable in postconviction, presentation of the claim is not valid when used to re-litigate an issue previously raised and

<u>rejected</u> on appeal. <u>Valle v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d at 1331, 1336 n. 6 (Fla. 1997)(upholding procedural bar on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding counsel's failure to preclude admission of non statutory aggravating factors as admissibility of that evidence was reviewed on direct appeal); <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995)(finding ineffective of counsel claim for failing to properly challenge the admissibility of Harvey's prior escape procedurally barred as the admissibility of that evidence was upheld on direct appeal); <u>Rivera</u>, 717 So. 2d 477, 480 n.2 (Fla. 1996) (finding it impermissible to recast claim which could have or was raised on appeal as one of ineffectiveness to overcome procedural bar or re-litigate appellate issue); <u>Rollings v. State</u>, 825 So. 2d 293, 296 (Fla. 2002)(same); <u>Cherry</u>, 659 So.2d at 1072 (Fla. 1995)(same).

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